





Development of tough hydrogel for intervertebral disc nucleus pulposus replacement to treat degenerative disc disease

Soo-Bin Lee

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University



Development of tough hydrogel for intervertebral disc nucleus pulposus replacement to treat degenerative disc disease

Directed by Professor Seong-Hwan Moon

The Doctoral Dissertation submitted to the Department of Medicine, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Science

Soo-Bin Lee

December 2023



This certifies that the Doctoral Dissertation	of
Soo-Bin Lee is approved.	

3/wh
Thesis Supervisor : Seong-Hwan Moon
A you parts
Thesis Committee Member#1 : Si-Young Park
0/2SB
Thesis Committee Member#2 : Hwan-Mo Lee
7L &ver.
Thesis Committee Member#3 : Keung-Nyun Kim

Thesis Committee Member#4 : Ho-Joong Kim

The Graduate School Yonsei University

December 2023



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To begin, I would like to express my deepest respect and gratitude to my mentor and supervisor, Professor Seong-Hwan Moon, for his invaluable advice and guidance throughout this research. Additionally, I am profoundly thankful for the insightful advice and contributions from the members of my thesis committee, Professor Si-Young Park, Professor Hwan-Mo Lee, Professor Keung-Nyun Kim, and Professor Ho-Joong Kim.

I am also thankful to Senior Researcher Young Mi Kang for her dedicated assistance and support in laboratory experiments. Thanks should also go to all the researchers and individuals at GS Medical, Seoul National University Department of Materials Science & Engineering, and Yonsei Laboratory Animal Research Center. This endeavor would not have been possible without their work and support.

Lastly, I wish to acknowledge my family, especially my wife, children, parents, and parents-in-law. Their belief in me, love, and unwavering support have made it possible for me to successfully complete this study.

Soo-Bin Lee



<TABLE OF CONTENTS>

ABSTRACT v
I. INTRODUCTION 1
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS 4
1. Tough hydrogel synthesis ······ 4
2. In vitro cell cytotoxicity test
3. In vitro cell adhesion and proliferation test
4. Swelling test ······ 6
5. Static compression test
6. Static tension test ······ 7
7. Dynamic mechanical analysis ······ 8
8. In vivo implantation in a porcine model9
9. Ex vivo evaluation 10
10. Statistical analysis
III. RESULTS 12
1. In vitro cell cytotoxicity test
2. In vitro cell adhesion and proliferation test
3. Swelling test ····· 13
4. Static compression test ····· 13
5. Static tension test
6. Dynamic mechanical analysis · · · · · 15
7. In vivo implantation in a porcine model 18
8. Ex vivo evaluation ····· 20
IV. DISCUSSION
V. CONCLUSION ····· 27
REFERENCES ······ 28





LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Photograph of the tough hydrogel
Figure 2. Static compression test 7
Figure 3. Static tensile test 8
Figure 4. Schematic diagram of the study methods
Figure 5. In vitro cytotoxicity test 12
Figure 6. In vitro cell adhesion and proliferation test
Figure 7. Swelling test
Figure 8. Stress–strain curves of the static tension test
Figure 9. Complex stiffness 16
Figure 10. Storage stiffness 17
Figure 11. Loss stiffness 17
Figure 12. Tan δ 18
Figure 13. In vivo implantation in a porcine model
Figure 14. X-ray and micro-CT evaluation of the implanted tough
hydrogel
Figure 15. Histological evaluation



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Results of the static compression test	14
Table 2. Results of the static tensile test	16



ABSTRACT

Development of tough hydrogel for intervertebral disc nucleus pulposus replacement to treat degenerative disc disease

Soo-Bin Lee

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Seong-Hwan Moon)

Degenerative disc disease is a condition where lower back pain occurs due to degenerative changes in the intervertebral discs. If conservative treatments do not show improvement, surgical interventions such as spinal fusion may be necessary. Tissue engineering, cell therapy, and disc transplantation have been attempted as new treatments for degenerative disc disease, but no successful results have been demonstrated to date. Hydrogel, with its excellent biocompatibility and properties similar to the intervertebral disc nucleus pulposus, has recently gained attention as a potential material for nucleus pulposus replacement. In this study, we aimed to develop a tough hydrogel with enhanced mechanical properties and explore its potential for clinical application as a nucleus pulposus replacement. The tough hydrogel was fabricated by incorporating silk fibers treated with 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (2-HEMA), which contains hydrophilic group, into the core of a polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) hydrogel. In vitro experiments were conducted, including cytotoxicity tests, cell adhesion and cell proliferation tests. Cell viability in the extract was assessed, and cell adhesion and proliferation were evaluated through absorbance measurements. Mechanical tests, including swelling, static compression and tensile test, and dynamic mechanical analysis, were performed. Swelling ratio was measured by comparing the weights in dry



and wet states, and the elastic modulus and tan δ were measured using an electromechanical testing machine. In vivo experiments were carried out by implanting the tough hydrogel into the intervertebral disc of pigs. Under general anesthesia, surgical incisions were made to remove the pig's lumbar disc nucleus pulposus, and the tough hydrogel was implanted. After 3 weeks, the pigs were sacrificed, and X-ray, micro-CT, and histological analyses were conducted. The cell toxicity test showed that the cell viability in the extract of the tough hydrogel was over 80% of the control group, indicating no cytotoxicity. In cell adhesion test, it exhibited 205% higher absorbance compared to the control group, and cell proliferation tests showed an increasing absorbance difference from the control group over time. Through in vitro experiments, the tough hydrogel demonstrated suitability for cell adhesion and proliferation. The swelling test showed a swelling ratio of 202%, and the compression and tensile elastic modulus were 3.75 kPa and 16.50 MPa, respectively. Tan δ gradually decreased with increasing frequency, converging to 0.09. Mechanical tests confirmed that the tough hydrogel exhibited properties similar to the intervertebral disc nucleus pulposus in terms of elasticity and viscoelasticity. In the pig intervertebral disc implantation surgery, no complications related to the surgery occurred. Histological analysis and imaging results confirmed that the tough hydrogel was located within the intervertebral disc nucleus pulposus, and it integrated well without any adverse reactions to the disc tissue. Through this study, we confirmed that the tough hydrogel possesses excellent biocompatibility and properties, making it a promising candidate for nucleus pulposus replacement in the treatment of degenerative disc disease. For future clinical applications of the tough hydrogel, further research is required to develop minimally invasive and effective implantation methods into the intervertebral disc.

Key words : tough hydrogel, degenerative disc disease, nucleus pulposus, PVA, silk



Development of tough hydrogel for intervertebral disc nucleus pulposus replacement to treat degenerative disc disease

Soo-Bin Lee

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Seong-Hwan Moon)

I. INTRODUCTION

Low back pain is a leading cause of disability in both developed and developing countries^{1,2}. It has been estimated that 70-85% of all people have low back pain at some time in life³. In 2015, the global point prevalence of activity-limiting low back pain was 7.3%⁴. In Korea, the prevalence of the patients presenting low back pain was 8.5% among adults in 2007⁵. The economic and public health burden related to low back pain are enormous⁶. Since the number of people affected is increasing world-wide, the burden is expected to increase¹.

A well understood pathological cause such as vertebral fracture, malignancy, or infection is identified in only a small portion of people with low back pain. The veritable cause of low back pain still remains unclear in most cases⁷. However, a correlation with intervertebral disc degeneration and low back pain has been documented in numerous literatures⁸⁻¹³. When degenerative changes in the intervertebral disc are confirmed and considered to be the cause of chronic back pain, it can be diagnosed as a degenerative disc



disease.

The intervertebral disc is a fibrous cartilaginous complex which connects upper and lower vertebral bodies and makes stability of vertebral column. It consists of a central nucleus pulposus and an outer annulus fibrosus. The nucleus pulposus is composed of type II collagen and proteoglycans which enable the tissue to retain high levels of water and make it suited for resisting compressive loads^{14,15}. The annulus fibrosus is a structure attached to the vertebral body and cartilage endplate. It surrounds the nucleus pulposus and resists tensile forces.

Degeneration of the intervertebral discs is a progressive cascade of cellular, compositional, and structural changes that is closely linked with aging^{15,16}. In the degeneration process, the nucleus pulposus loses its capacity to bind water¹⁷. The pressure in the nucleus pulposus decreases, and thus, disc height is lost. The annulus fibrosus shows bulging, de-lamination, and radial fissures¹⁸. Due to an increase in microscopic and macroscopic damage to the endplate, the subchondral bone and the endplate shows sclerotic change¹⁹.

Whether the disc degeneration is a typical aging process or a pathological condition, remains a subject of debate^{20,21}. However, severe and persistent low back pain without a clear cause, accompanied by evident signs of disc degeneration, may lead to a diagnosis of degenerative disc disease. Conservative treatment approaches for degenerative disc disease typically involve medications, injections, physical therapy, and exercise. However, if conservative treatments fail to improve the condition, surgical treatment such as spinal fusion may be necessary. The efficacy of spinal fusion in eliminating the pain is well proved by various studies²². Nevertheless, reduced spine flexibility and the possibility of adjacent segmental degeneration are the disadvantages²³. Total disc replacement with



artificial discs has been developed, however, there is still controversy regarding the long-term clinical outcomes²⁴.

The ultimate goal to treat degenerative disc disease would be regeneration of the intervertebral disc and restoration of its mechanical function. Several new technologies have been tried to restore and augment the biomechanical function of nucleus pulposus. Researches on tissue engineering, cell therapy, intervertebral disc transplantation, and biofabrication using 3D printing have been attempted, however, they have not yet demonstrated successful result with long-term efficacy²⁵. Hydrogel is one the biomaterials which has been considered suitable as a substitute for nucleus pulposus because of its mechanically and biologically competent properties²⁶. Hydrogels from natural origin, such as alginate, hyaluronan, chitosan, collagen, and gellan gum, offer a wide range of biological advantages, however, the physical properties are not satisfactory. On the other hand, synthetic hydrogels, such as polyethylene glycol, polyvinyl alcohol, and polyvinyl-pyrrolidone, provide good physical properties and low degradation rate²⁷. In addition, hydrogels combined with various components including hyaluronic acid, collagen II, and carboxymethylcellulose have been evaluated in vitro for nucleus pulposus regeneration²⁸⁻³⁰.

In this study, we developed a novel tough hydrogel matrix reinforced with silk fibers. Our objective was to assess the biologic and mechanical compatibility of the tough hydrogel through in vitro experiments, mechanical tests, in vivo implantation in a porcine model, and ex vivo evaluation. Through these validations, we explored the potential of utilizing the tough hydrogel as a replacement for the intervertebral disc nucleus in the treatment of degenerative disc disease.



II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Tough hydrogel synthesis

Hydrogel matrix was synthesized based on 13 wt% polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) polymer. To increase elastic modulus and strength, hydrogel matrix was reinforced by 14.8 vol% silk fiber with a diameter of 650 µm in the core. The surface of the silk fiber was treated with 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA), which contains a hydrophilic group (-OH), in order to prevent sliding and increase the interfacial energy between the silk fiber and the hydrogel. The surface-treated silk fiber was positioned in the center, and then PVA solution was injected into the inner part of the outer mold. The synthesis of the tough hydrogel was completed by repeating the freezing-thawing cycle of 6 hours of freezing and 3 hours of thawing for a total of 9 cycles. The tough hydrogel can be fabricated in various forms, and for this study, it was prepared in the form of fiber with a diameter of 2 mm to be implanted into porcine lumbar discs. The finally produced tough hydrogels are shown in Figure 1.

2. In vitro cell cytotoxicity test

The tough hydrogel was sterilized and exposed to Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) for 24 hours at 37 °C to make extract fluid. Positive and negative control were latex and polyethylene film, respectively, and titanium was also compared as a medically approved material. The same extracting procedure was performed for each material. The proportion of each material and the medium was 0.1 g per 1 ml of the medium. The extract fluid of each material as well as 2-fold diluted extract of the tough hydrogel was prepared. Wistar Institute–38 (WI–38) cells, which are human fibroblast-like fetal lung cells, and human intervertebral disc cells were separately seeded and incubated at 37 °C to a density of over 80% of the area of each culture well. The culture media was replaced with the



extract fluid, and then the cells were incubated for further 24 hours. After incubation, each well was washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and incubated with water-soluble tetrazolium salts (WST) assay reagent for 1 hour. Each well plate was placed in the absorbance microplate reader and absorption was detected at 450nm. The viability of the cells exposed to each material was calculated. The test was repeated 3 times.



Figure 1. Photograph of the tough hydrogel. The tough hydrogel has a diameter of 2 mm and contains a silk fiber with a diameter of 650 μ m in the center.



3. In vitro cell adhesion and proliferation test

The tough hydrogel was sterilized and prepared in a 12–well plate with a diameter of 2.1 cm and a surface area of 3.9 cm^2 . A blank 12–well plate was prepared for control. WI–38 cells were seeded with a density of 2×10^4 cells/cm² and incubated with DMEM for 4 hours, 1 day, 3 days, and 7 days. DMEM is replaced with PBS and WST assay reagent for 1 hour. Each well plate was placed in the absorbance microplate reader and absorption was detected at 450nm. Serial difference of optical density between tough hydrogel and control was obtained to evaluate cell proliferation. The test was repeated 3 times.

4. Swelling test

A tough hydrogel sample was prepared with a diameter of 3mm and a length of 13cm. The sample was subjected to lyophilization for 24 hours, and its weight in the dried state was subsequently measured. Following this, the sample was immersed in PBS at 37 °C for 24 hours, and its weight in the swollen state was measured. Experiments were repeated 3 times. Swelling ratio was calculated using following equation.

Swelling ratio (%) = $100 \times (W_s - W_d)/W_d$ W_s =Weight of the swollen state W_d =Weight of the dried state

5. Static compression test

A cylindrical tough hydrogel sample, which had been immersed in PBS for 1 hour, was placed in Acumen[®] 3 electrodynamic test machine (MTS Systems Co, Eden Prairie, MN, USA) and its diameter was measured. The gauge length was set to 5 mm, and a compressive



force was applied to the tough hydrogel sample using flat jigs at a speed of 2 mm/min (Figure 2). The stiffness and elastic modulus were determined by calculating the slope of the linear region of the load–displacement curve and stress–strain curve. The test was repeated 6 times.



Figure 2. Static compression test. (A) Before and (B) after applying a compressive force. Flat jigs were used, and a compressive force was applied at a speed of 2mm/min.

6. Static tension test

A cylindrical tough hydrogel sample, which had been immersed in PBS for 1 hour, was placed in Acumen® 3 electrodynamic test machine (MTS Systems Co, Eden Prairie, MN, USA) and its diameter was measured. The gauge length was set to 5 mm, and a tensile force was applied to the tough hydrogel sample using clamp-shaped jigs at a speed of 5 mm/min (Figure 3). Elastic modulus, ultimate strength, and elongation were measured. The test was repeated 6 times.





Figure 3. Static tension test. (A) Before and (B) after applying a tensile force. Clamp-shaped jigs were used, and a tensile force was applied at a speed of 5mm/min.

7. Dynamic mechanical analysis

A cylindrical tough hydrogel sample, which had been immersed in PBS for 1 hour, was placed in Acumen[®] 3 electrodynamic test machine (MTS Systems Co, Eden Prairie, MN, USA) and its diameter was measured. For dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA), a load-controlled cyclic tensile load was applied. The common elastic range of all tested specimens, derived from the static tension test, was set as the repeated load range of 10 to 30 N using a sine wave. The frequency range was set from 1 to 15 Hz, and the analysis was performed by sequentially increasing the frequency by 1 Hz increments. The test was repeated 3 times. The viscoelasticity (tangent of delta, tan δ) is the ratio of the loss stiffness to the storage stiffness and was calculated using the following equation.



 $K^* = K' + iK'' \text{ (complex stiffness)}$ $\delta = phase \ lag$ $K' = \frac{\sigma_0}{\varepsilon_0} \cos \delta \text{ (storage stiffness)}$ $K'' = \frac{\sigma_0}{\varepsilon_0} \sin \delta \text{ (loss stiffness)}$ $\tan \delta = K''/K' \text{ (viscoelasticity)}$

8. In vivo implantation in a porcine model

With Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) approval, we utilized three 5-month-old pigs weighing 50 kg for in vivo implantation of the tough hydrogel. Pigs were anesthetized via intramuscular injection of alfaxan and were intubated and maintained on an isoflurane-oxygen mixture during the surgical procedure. We placed the pig in semilateral position with left side up. The draping was performed aseptically in the ordinary orthopedic manner. The intervertebral discs between lumbar vertebrae 3, 4, and 5 were accessed through an anterior approach, similar to the anterior lumbar approach commonly used in human surgeries. Confirmation of the level was performed by C-arm fluoroscopy. Oblique skin incision was made on the lateral side of the abdomen. We incised subcutaneous fat, divided abdominal muscles, and dissected through the plane between retroperitoneal fat and psoas fascia. Peritoneal cavity was retracted medially, and psoas muscle was retracted laterally. Vertebral bodies and intervertebral discs were identified. We made a small incision on annulus fibrosus and removed nucleus pulposus. Then, the tough hydrogel was implanted at the core of the intervertebral disc with a coil shape. For one pig, we utilized a titanium fiber with a thickness of 0.2 mm embedded within the tough hydrogel material to assess the positioning of the implanted tough hydrogel within the disc.



The surgical wound was closed layer by layer.

Postoperatively, the pigs were managed by veterinary staff and were administered intravenous ketorolac (1 mg/kg) and subcutaneous meloxicam (0.2 mg/kg) for pain control. For antimicrobial prophylaxis, intramuscular cefazolin (30 mg/kg) was administered preoperatively, and oral amoxicillin clavulanate (0.14 mg/kg) was administered postoperatively for seven days.

9. Ex vivo evaluation

On postoperative day 21, the pigs were euthanized by overdose intravenous potassium chloride injection under general anesthesia by intramuscular injection of alfaxan (1 mg/kg), xylazine (2 mg/kg), and azaperone (2 mg/kg). The lumbar 3-4-5 spine segment was harvested and fixed in neutral buffered formalin. The sample was decalcified and sectioned at 10 μ m. Sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and Masson's trichrome. The segments with titanium fiber underwent X-ray and micro-computed tomography (CT) imaging to visualize the distribution of the tough hydrogel in the intervertebral disc.

10. Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) from the results of independent experiments. A two-tailed Student's t-test was used to compare the results of the two groups. A value of P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed using R (version 4.3.0).

A schematic diagram of the study methods is shown in Figure 4.





Figure 4. Schematic diagram of the study methods. Tough hydrogel was synthesized and evaluated in the following experiments: (A) Cytotoxicity test, (B) Cell adhesion and proliferation test, (C) Swelling test, (D) Static and dynamic mechanical test, (E) In vivo implantation, and (F) Ex vivo evaluation.

WST, water-soluble tetrazolium salts; PBS, phosphate-buffered saline; CT, computed tomography



III. RESULTS

1. Cell cytotoxicity test

The mean cell viability of WI-38 cells was $84.82 \pm 6.60\%$ and $96.49 \pm 6.77\%$ for 100% and 50% tough hydrogel extract fluid, respectively. For disc cells, the mean cell viability was $86.82 \pm 7.99\%$ and $92.83 \pm 9.87\%$ for 100% and 50% tough hydrogel extract fluid, respectively (Figure 5). The cell viability of the 100% tough hydrogel extract exceeded 80%, indicating that the tough hydrogel material is non-cytotoxic and exhibits high biosafety. The cell viability of both 100% and 50% tough hydrogel was significantly higher than that of latex, the positive control (P < 0.001).

В

Α



Figure 5. Cell viability results of (A) WI-38 and (B) disc cell for each material extract fluid. The tough hydrogel showed similar results to the control material, indicating its non-toxicity and biosafety. Data were shown mean \pm standard deviation from 3 independent experiments. *Statistically significant difference with P < 0.05. PE, polyethylene; WI, Wistar Institute



2. Cell adhesion and proliferation test

After a 4-hour incubation period, the mean optical density (OD) at 450 nm of the tough hydrogel was 0.21 ± 0.07 , which was 205% higher than that of the control (P = 0.002). This result demonstrates the excellent cell adhesion capability of the tough hydrogel. The difference of optical density between the tough hydrogel and control increased over time, indicating that the tough hydrogel is conducive to cell proliferation (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Results of in vitro cell adhesion and proliferation test. (A) The mean optical density at 450 nm of the tough hydrogel was 205% higher than that of the control. (B) The difference of optical density between the tough hydrogel and the control showed increasing pattern over time. Data were shown mean \pm standard deviation from 3 independent experiments. *Statistically significant difference with P < 0.05.

3. Swelling test

The mean weight of the tough hydrogel in the swollen state was 1.38 ± 0.13 g, which was significantly higher compared to the dried state weight of 0.46 ± 0.05 g (P < 0.001) (Figure 7). The swelling ratio of the tough hydrogel was 202%.

4. Static compression test

The mean stiffness of the tough hydrogel sample was 1.46 ± 0.33 N/mm, and the mean elastic modulus was 3.75 ± 0.86 kPa (Table 1).





Figure 7. The tough hydrogel in (A) dried state and (B) swollen state. (C) The mean weight of the tough hydrogel in the swollen state was higher compared to the dried state. Data were shown mean \pm standard deviation from 3 independent experiments. *Statistically significant difference with P < 0.05.

	Stiffness (N/mm)	Elastic modulus (kPa)	
#1	1.73	4.46	
#2	1.08 2.75		
#3	1.24	3.16	
#4	1.69	4.31	
#5	1.18	3.03	
#6	1.85	4.78	
Mean \pm SD	1.46 ± 0.33	3.75 ± 0.86	

Table 1. F	Results of	f the	static of	com	pression	test
------------	------------	-------	-----------	-----	----------	------

SD, standard deviation



5. Static tension test

The 6 stress–strain curves were presented in Figure 8. The mean elastic modulus of the tough hydrogel was 14.11 ± 0.81 MPa. The mean ultimate strength was 12.54 ± 0.78 MPa, and the mean elongation was $103.07 \pm 13.85\%$ (Table 2).



Figure 8. The stress-strain curves of the tough hydrogel in 6 independent static tension tests. The elastic modulus was determined by calculating the slope of the linear region.

6. Dynamic mechanical analysis

Measured complex stiffness ranged from 106 to 136 N/mm and showed gradual increase as the frequency increased (Figure 9). The storage stiffness curve was similar to the complex stiffness curve (Figure 10). The loss stiffness showed a gradual decrease and plateau pattern (Figure 11). The tan δ of the tough hydrogel ranged from 0.09 to 0.15. As the frequency increased, the tan δ decreased and reached a plateau around 0.09 (Figure 12).



	Elastic modulus (MPa)	Ultimate Strength (MPa)	Elongation (%)
#1	17.86	12.44	91.82
#2	14.82	13.37	116.77
#3	16.21	13.49	117.46
#4	17.98	12.20	89.51
#5	16.41	11.40	90.28
#6	15.73	12.35	112.60
$Mean \pm SD$	16.50 ± 1.23	12.54 ± 0.78	103.07 ± 13.85

Table 2. Results of the static tension test

SD, standard deviation



Figure 9. Complex stiffness (K*) of the tough hydrogel. The complex stiffness exhibited a gradual increase as the frequency increased. Data were shown mean \pm standard deviation from 3 independent experiments.





Figure 10. Storage stiffness (K') of the tough hydrogel. The storage stiffness displayed similar results to the complex stiffness, showing a gradual increase as the frequency increased. Data were shown mean \pm standard deviation from 3 independent experiments.



Figure 11. Loss stiffness (K") of the tough hydrogel. The loss stiffness gradually decreased and reached a plateau of approximately 12 N/mm as the frequency increased. Data were shown mean \pm standard deviation from 3 independent experiments.





Figure 12. Tan delta of the tough hydrogel. Tan delta, which represents the viscoelasticity, gradually decreased and reached a plateau of approximately 0.09 as the frequency increased. Data were shown mean \pm standard deviation from 3 independent experiments.

7. In vivo implantation in a porcine model

All the pigs tolerated well during the surgery and there were no complications such as paraplegia due to nerve injury. There was minimal bleeding observed during the procedure. The surgical wound healed well, and the stitches were removed 2 weeks after the surgery. Surgical photos were shown in Figure 13.





Figure 13. In vivo implantation of the tough hydrogel in a porcine model. (A) A pig with lateral position on the operating table. (B) Confirmation of the surgical level using C-arm fluoroscopy. (C) Resected clear, jelly-like normal nucleus pulposus of a porcine disc. (D) Deaver retractors were used to obtain a surgical field of view and approach to the disc. (E) Sutured skin with nylon.



8. Ex vivo evaluation

The X-ray and micro-CT scans confirmed that the titanium fiber embedded within the tough hydrogel was located in the central region of the intervertebral disc. (Figure 14). In the histological examination, it was confirmed that the tough hydrogel was situated within the nucleus pulposus, with intact adjacent vertebral endplates and annulus fibrosus. The implanted tough hydrogel was enveloped by a thin fibrous capsule, without any abnormal immune reaction observed. It exhibited close contact with the highly collagenous remnant nucleus pulposus (Figure 15).



Figure 14. X-ray and micro-CT evaluation of the implanted tough hydrogel. A titanium fiber with a thickness of 0.2 mm was detected in the central portion of the porcine intervertebral disc using X-ray (A and B) and micro-CT (C and D) imaging. The fiber was embedded within the tough hydrogel material.





Figure 15. Histological evaluation of the tough hydrogel at 3 weeks after implantation in a porcine model. Hematoxylin and eosin stain for (A) and (B), and Masson's trichrome stain for (C) and (D). The boxed areas in (A) and (C) (×10) are depicted at higher magnification in (B) and (D) (×170). Implanted tough hydrogel was surrounded by a thin fibrous capsule (black arrow) without abnormal immune reaction, showing close contact with highly collagenous remnant nucleus pulposus (D). EP, endplate; NP, nucleus pulposus; TH, tough hydrogel; AF, annulus fibrosus.



IV. DISCUSSION

In this study, we conducted in vitro experiments, mechanical tests, in vivo implantation, and ex vivo evaluations to investigate the potential use of the reinforced tough hydrogel as a nucleus pulposus substitute. A mechanically reinforced tough hydrogel was created using PVA hydrogel and silk fibers, and in vitro experiments confirmed its non-cytotoxic nature and observed favorable cell adhesion and proliferation. Through mechanical testing, the tough hydrogel demonstrated excellent swelling properties, elastic modulus, strength, and viscoelasticity. In the large animal experiments conducted using pigs, it was confirmed that the tough hydrogel remained within the disc for an extended period without causing any abnormal immune or inflammatory response.

Hydrogels are widely recognized for their excellent biocompatibility, and they are currently used in various products such as contact lenses, wound dressings, drug delivery, and hygiene products³¹. PVA hydrogel has been found to have minimal toxicity and is widely used in biomedical engineering research, particularly in applications such as vascular stents and cartilage, due to its highly strong and ultrapure characteristics^{32,33}. Silk also demonstrates high biocompatibility and is utilized as a medical material in various applications, including sutures³⁴. In this study, a cytotoxicity test was conducted on the final product of the tough hydrogel to evaluate the potential risks associated with residual monomers or degradation by-products during the fabrication process. Even in the 100% tough hydrogel extract, the cell viability showed over 80%, meeting the standards set by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO).

PVA/silk composite hydrogels have gained significant attention in the field of tissue engineering due to their excellent cell adhesion and proliferation properties^{35,36}. In this study, silk fibers treated with 2-HEMA were utilized, and we observed outstanding



results in terms of both cell adhesion and proliferation. These findings indicate the high biocompatibility of the tough hydrogel and its potential for applications in tissue engineering, where the attachment of growth factors or bioactive molecules can be used to regulate the proliferation and differentiation of surrounding cells³⁷.

Hydrogels are composed of hydrophilic polymers capable of retaining a large amount of water, resulting in their characteristic swelling behavior. The swelling property of hydrogels allows for easier minimally invasive surgeries, as the hydrogel can be inserted into the body with fewer incisions when it is in a dry and compacted state. There are literature reports documenting successful replacement after nucleotomy using dried-state hydrogels in porcine and canine model lumbar discs, utilizing these characteristics^{38,39}. The swelling ratio of the tough hydrogel was 202%, which was similar to the results mentioned in the aforementioned literatures, and it was considered satisfactory at a desirable level.

Intervertebral disc nucleus replacement materials need to withstand high loads, requiring excellent mechanical properties. According to a cadaveric study⁴⁰, the compressive elastic modulus of the nucleus pulposus was 5.8 kPa, and it increased with the progression of degenerative changes. In another cadaveric study by Cloyd et al.⁴¹, the mean elastic modulus of the nucleus pulposus was 5.39 ± 2.56 kPa. The tough hydrogel in our study had an elastic modulus of 3.75 kPa, which was similar to that of the cadaveric nucleus pulposus mentioned above. While the elastic modulus of the tough hydrogel we studied was slightly lower than that of the cadaveric nucleus pulposus, it exhibited over tenfold greater stiffness compared to typical PVA hydrogel⁴². It is possible that the slightly lower elastic modulus of the tough hydrogel compared to the elastic modulus of cadaveric nucleus pulposus may be due to conducting the measurement without the presence of surrounding annulus fibrosus, which could have prevented hoop strain. Further research is needed to



investigate this aspect in more detail.

In contrast to the static compression test, the static tension test revealed a higher elastic modulus for the tough hydrogel. By incorporating silk fibers with hydrophilic surface treatment using 2-HEMA into the core of the PVA hydrogel, it was possible to achieve higher tensile strength and elastic modulus. There have been several studies focused on creating composite PVA hydrogels to enhance their mechanical properties. Xiang et al. fabricated PVA/hydroxyapatite/tannic acid hydrogels and reported a tensile strength of 0.43 MPa⁴³. Hou et al. reported PVA/silk fibroin composite hydrogels with an increased elastic modulus of 161 kPa³⁵. In this study, the tough hydrogel exhibited a tensile ultimate strength of 12.54 MPa and a tensile elastic modulus of 16.50 MPa. The use of coarse silk fibers in their unmodified state, in contrast to previous studies, is considered the primary factor contributing to the significant enhancement of mechanical properties observed in our study.

It is widely known that the nucleus pulposus exhibits viscoelastic properties⁴⁴⁻⁴⁷. In a study conducted by Gadd et al.⁴⁸, which involved 12 ovine lumbar discs, it was observed that storage stiffness increased with frequency, while loss stiffness remained relatively constant across the frequency range. In this study, the tough hydrogel also exhibited an increase in storage stiffness with increasing frequency, while the loss stiffness remained relatively constant above 8 Hz. The tan δ , often referred to as the loss factor, measures the relationship between the loss and storage stiffness and can be considered as a representative value of a material's viscosity. A tan δ value greater than one signifies a more liquid-like behavior, while a tan δ of the tough hydrogel ranged from 0.09 to 0.15, and as the frequency increased, the tan δ reached a plateau around 0.09. This finding closely



aligns with the tan delta values observed in the study by Gadd et al.⁴⁸, indicating that the tough hydrogel exhibits a viscoelastic behavior similar to that of the nucleus pulposus.

Based on the experimental results mentioned above, we performed large animal experiments to assess the feasibility of clinical application for the tough hydrogel. Pigs are extensively utilized in various experiments and also for training purposes in the field of spinal surgery, primarily due to their anatomical resemblance to humans in terms of spinal structures⁴⁹. We performed surgery using a porcine model to remove the lumbar disc nucleus pulposus and insert the tough hydrogel, and no significant complications were observed during the procedure. This result holds significant clinical significance since previous studies have demonstrated that although hydrogels used for nucleus pulposus augmentation can replicate native disc mechanical properties during ex vivo testing, they frequently exhibit failure when implanted in large animal models in vivo⁵⁰⁻⁵². Indeed, in our preliminary study, we initially performed disc replacement surgery in pigs using a posterior approach. However, we encountered complications such as infection, lower limb paralysis due to nerve injury, and fatalities due to excessive bleeding. As a result, we changed the approach to an anterolateral approach for disc access, and we were able to achieve favorable outcomes. While the use of an anterolateral approach for disc access is not yet common in humans, we believe that with the development of minimally invasive spine surgery tools, it has the potential to become more widely adopted in the future. Additionally, in humans, unlike pigs, surgical facilities are equipped to facilitate bleeding control and nerve root manipulation, making the posterior approach a viable option.

In our ex vivo evaluation, we confirmed that the tough hydrogel was well positioned in the nucleus pulposus region of the disc and did not elicit any inflammatory response. The biocompatibility of PVA hydrogel and silk has already been established, and



there are similar research findings to ours⁵³⁻⁵⁵. However, our study holds significance as we used pigs as the animal model and performed open surgery involving the removal of the nucleus pulposus and insertion of the tough hydrogel, rather than a simple injection of hydrogel.

There are several limitations in this study. The tough hydrogel was designed in a fiber form to facilitate insertion into the disc, but in the porcine model, the insertion could not be achieved ideally. It should be noted that porcine discs are considerably smaller than human discs, and when applying this technique to human discs, appropriate insertion instruments need to be developed. Second, during the insertion process of the tough hydrogel, the intact annulus fibrosus may become damaged. Even in degenerated discs with annular fissures, it is important to minimize the artificial injury inflicted. Therefore, it is necessary to enable the insertion of the tough hydrogel with minimal annular incisions. Further research utilizing the swelling characteristics of the hydrogel and other approaches may be required to address this issue. Lastly, the longevity of the tough hydrogel inside the disc tissue was not evaluated in this study. For the clinical application of the tough hydrogel, additional research on the in vivo longevity of the tough hydrogel is necessary.



V. CONCLUSION

The tough hydrogel, created by combining PVA hydrogel and silk fibers, underwent rigorous in vitro experiments, mechanical testing, in vivo implantation, and ex vivo evaluations. The in vitro experiments confirmed its biocompatibility, as there were no observed cytotoxic effects, and it promoted cell adhesion and proliferation. Mechanical testing showcased its outstanding properties, including excellent swelling behavior, elastic modulus, strength, and viscoelasticity. In large animal experiments using pigs, the tough hydrogel demonstrated long-term presence within the disc without triggering any adverse immune or inflammatory reactions. Based on the overall findings of this study, the tough hydrogel appears to be a suitable material for use as a nucleus pulposus substitute. With further research, it may be possible to explore its clinical application and attempt its implementation in practice for the treatment of degenerative disc disease.



REFERENCES

- Disease GBD, Injury I, Prevalence C. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2018;392:1789-858.
- Hoy D, March L, Brooks P, Woolf A, Blyth F, Vos T, et al. Measuring the global burden of low back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2010;24:155-65.
- Andersson GB. Epidemiological features of chronic low-back pain. Lancet 1999;354:581-5.
- Disease GBD, Injury I, Prevalence C. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet 2016;388:1545-602.
- Jhun HJ, Park JY. Estimated number of Korean adults with back pain and population-based associated factors of back pain : data from the Fourth Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. J Korean Neurosurg Soc 2009;46:443-50.
- Manek NJ, MacGregor AJ. Epidemiology of back disorders: prevalence, risk factors, and prognosis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2005;17:134-40.
- Hartvigsen J, Hancock MJ, Kongsted A, Louw Q, Ferreira ML, Genevay S, et al. What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. Lancet 2018;391:2356-67.
- 8. Cheung KM, Karppinen J, Chan D, Ho DW, Song YQ, Sham P, et al. Prevalence and pattern of lumbar magnetic resonance imaging changes in a population study



of one thousand forty-three individuals. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2009;34:934-40.

- Wang Y, Videman T, Battie MC. ISSLS prize winner: Lumbar vertebral endplate lesions: associations with disc degeneration and back pain history. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2012;37:1490-6.
- Teraguchi M, Yoshimura N, Hashizume H, Muraki S, Yamada H, Minamide A, et al. Prevalence and distribution of intervertebral disc degeneration over the entire spine in a population-based cohort: the Wakayama Spine Study. Osteoarthr Cartil 2014;22:104-10.
- Luoma K, Riihimaki H, Luukkonen R, Raininko R, Viikari-Juntura E, Lamminen
 A. Low back pain in relation to lumbar disc degeneration. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2000;25:487-92.
- de Schepper EI, Damen J, van Meurs JB, Ginai AZ, Popham M, Hofman A, et al. The association between lumbar disc degeneration and low back pain: the influence of age, gender, and individual radiographic features. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2010;35:531-6.
- Livshits G, Popham M, Malkin I, Sambrook PN, Macgregor AJ, Spector T, et al. Lumbar disc degeneration and genetic factors are the main risk factors for low back pain in women: the UK Twin Spine Study. Ann Rheum Dis 2011;70:1740-5.
- Cassidy JJ, Hiltner A, Baer E. Hierarchical structure of the intervertebral disc. Connect Tissue Res 1989;23:75-88.
- Walker MH, Anderson DG. Molecular basis of intervertebral disc degeneration. Spine J 2004;4:158S-66S.
- 16. Haefeli M, Kalberer F, Saegesser D, Nerlich AG, Boos N, Paesold G. The course of macroscopic degeneration in the human lumbar intervertebral disc. Spine (Phila



Pa 1976) 2006;31:1522-31.

- Vergroesen PP, van der Veen AJ, van Royen BJ, Kingma I, Smit TH. Intradiscal pressure depends on recent loading and correlates with disc height and compressive stiffness. Eur Spine J 2014;23:2359-68.
- Inoue N, Espinoza Orias AA. Biomechanics of intervertebral disk degeneration.
 Orthop Clin North Am 2011;42:487-99, vii.
- Rutges JP, Jagt van der OP, Oner FC, Verbout AJ, Castelein RJ, Kummer JA, et al. Micro-CT quantification of subchondral endplate changes in intervertebral disc degeneration. Osteoarthr Cartil 2011;19:89-95.
- 20. Borenstein DG, O'Mara JW, Jr., Boden SD, Lauerman WC, Jacobson A, Platenberg C, et al. The value of magnetic resonance imaging of the lumbar spine to predict low-back pain in asymptomatic subjects : a seven-year follow-up study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2001;83:1306-11.
- Waris E, Eskelin M, Hermunen H, Kiviluoto O, Paajanen H. Disc degeneration in low back pain: a 17-year follow-up study using magnetic resonance imaging. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2007;32:681-4.
- 22. Fritzell P, Hägg O, Wessberg P, Nordwall A. 2001 Volvo Award Winner in Clinical Studies: Lumbar fusion versus nonsurgical treatment for chronic low back pain: a multicenter randomized controlled trial from the Swedish Lumbar Spine Study Group. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2001;26:2521-32.
- Hilibrand AS, Robbins M. Adjacent segment degeneration and adjacent segment disease: the consequences of spinal fusion? Spine J 2004;4:190S-4S.
- 24. Ding F, Jia Z, Zhao Z, Xie L, Gao X, Ma D, et al. Total disc replacement versus fusion for lumbar degenerative disc disease: a systematic review of overlapping



meta-analyses. Eur Spine J 2017;26:806-15.

- D'Este M, Eglin D, Alini M. Lessons to be learned and future directions for intervertebral disc biomaterials. Acta Biomater 2018;78:13-22.
- Silva-Correia J, Oliveira JM, Caridade SG, Oliveira JT, Sousa RA, Mano JF, et al. Gellan gum-based hydrogels for intervertebral disc tissue-engineering applications. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2011;5:e97-e107.
- van Uden S, Silva-Correia J, Oliveira JM, Reis RL. Current strategies for treatment of intervertebral disc degeneration: substitution and regeneration possibilities. Biomater Res 2017;21:22.
- Peroglio M, Grad S, Mortisen D, Sprecher CM, Illien-Junger S, Alini M, et al. Injectable thermoreversible hyaluronan-based hydrogels for nucleus pulposus cell encapsulation. Eur Spine J 2012;21 Suppl 6:S839-49.
- Reza AT, Nicoll SB. Characterization of novel photocrosslinked carboxymethylcellulose hydrogels for encapsulation of nucleus pulposus cells. Acta Biomater 2010;6:179-86.
- 30. Tsaryk R, Gloria A, Russo T, Anspach L, De Santis R, Ghanaati S, et al. Collagenlow molecular weight hyaluronic acid semi-interpenetrating network loaded with gelatin microspheres for cell and growth factor delivery for nucleus pulposus regeneration. Acta Biomater 2015;20:10-21.
- Caló E, Khutoryanskiy VV. Biomedical applications of hydrogels: A review of patents and commercial products. Eur Polym J 2015;65:252-67.
- 32. Adelnia H, Ensandoost R, Shebbrin Moonshi S, Gavgani JN, Vasafi EI, Ta HT. Freeze/thawed polyvinyl alcohol hydrogels: Present, past and future. Eur Polym J 2022;164:110974.



- Nair B. Final report on the safety assessment of polyvinyl alcohol. Int J Toxicol 1998;17:67-92.
- Jia L, Guo L, Zhu J, Ma Y. Stability and cytocompatibility of silk fibroin-capped gold nanoparticles. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2014;43:231-6.
- 35. Hou R, Wang Y, Han J, Zhu Y, Zhang H, Zhang L, et al. Structure and properties of PVA/silk fibroin hydrogels and their effects on growth behavior of various cell types. Mater Res Express 2020;7:015413.
- Kundu J, Poole-Warren LA, Martens P, Kundu SC. Silk fibroin/poly(vinyl alcohol) photocrosslinked hydrogels for delivery of macromolecular drugs. Acta Biomater 2012;8:1720-9.
- Schmedlen RH, Masters KS, West JL. Photocrosslinkable polyvinyl alcohol hydrogels that can be modified with cell adhesion peptides for use in tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2002;23:4325-32.
- Bergknut N, Smolders LA, Koole LH, Voorhout G, Hagman RE, Lagerstedt A-S, et al. The performance of a hydrogel nucleus pulposus prosthesis in an ex vivo canine model. Biomaterials 2010;31:6782-8.
- 39. Boelen EJH, van Hooy-Corstjens CSJ, Gijbels MJJ, Bulstra SK, van Ooij A, van Rhijn LW, et al. Preliminary evaluation of new intrinsically radiopaque hydrogels for replacing the nucleus pulposus. J Mater Chem 2006;16:824-8.
- Umehara S, Tadano S, Abumi K, Katagiri K, Kaneda K, Ukai T. Effects of degeneration on the elastic modulus distribution in the lumbar intervertebral disc. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 1996;21.
- 41. Cloyd JM, Malhotra NR, Weng L, Chen W, Mauck RL, Elliott DM. Material properties in unconfined compression of human nucleus pulposus, injectable



hyaluronic acid-based hydrogels and tissue engineering scaffolds. Eur Spine J 2007;16:1892-8.

- 42. Pan X, Wang Q, He P, Liu K, Ni Y, Chen L, et al. A bionic tactile plastic hydrogelbased electronic skin constructed by a nerve-like nanonetwork combining stretchable, compliant, and self-healing properties. Chem Eng J 2020;379:122271.
- 43. Xiang C, Zhang X, Zhang J, Chen W, Li X, Wei X, et al. A porous hydrogel with high mechanical strength and biocompatibility for bone tissue engineering. J Funct Biomater 2022;13.
- Iatridis JC, Setton LA, Weidenbaum M, Mow VC. The viscoelastic behavior of the non-degenerate human lumbar nucleus pulposus in shear. J Biomech 1997;30:1005-13.
- 45. Leahy JC, Hukins DWL. Viscoelastic properties of the nucleus pulposus of the intervertebral disk in compression. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2001;12:689-92.
- 46. Izambert O, Mitton D, Thourot M, Lavaste F. Dynamic stiffness and damping of human intervertebral disc using axial oscillatory displacement under a free mass system. Eur Spine J 2003;12:562-6.
- 47. Costi JJ, Stokes IA, Gardner-Morse MG, Iatridis JC. Frequency-dependent behavior of the intervertebral disc in response to each of six degree of freedom dynamic loading: solid phase and fluid phase contributions. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2008;33:1731-8.
- 48. Gadd MJ, Shepherd DET. Viscoelastic properties of the intervertebral disc and the effect of nucleus pulposus removal. Proc Inst Mech Eng H J Eng Med 2011;225:335-41.
- 49. Abbasi H, Abbasi A. Using porcine cadavers as an alternative to human cadavers



for teaching minimally invasive spinal fusion: Proof of concept and anatomical comparison. Cureus 2019;11:e6158.

- 50. Detiger S, de Bakker J, Emanuel K, Schmitz M, Vergroesen P, van der Veen A, et al. Translational challenges for the development of a novel nucleus pulposus substitute: Experimental results from biomechanical and in vivo studies. J Biomater Appl 2016;30:983-94.
- 51. Allen MJ, Schoonmaker JE, Bauer TW, Williams PF, Higham PA, Yuan HA. Preclinical evaluation of a poly (vinyl alcohol) hydrogel implant as a replacement for the nucleus pulposus. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2004;29:515-23.
- Reitmaier S, Kreja L, Gruchenberg K, Kanter B, Silva-Correia J, Oliveira JM, et al. In vivo biofunctional evaluation of hydrogels for disc regeneration. Eur Spine J 2014;23:19-26.
- 53. Gullbrand SE, Schaer TP, Agarwal P, Bendigo JR, Dodge GR, Chen W, et al. Translation of an injectable triple-interpenetrating-network hydrogel for intervertebral disc regeneration in a goat model. Acta Biomater 2017;60:201-9.
- 54. Lin HA, Varma DM, Hom WW, Cruz MA, Nasser PR, Phelps RG, et al. Injectable cellulose-based hydrogels as nucleus pulposus replacements: Assessment of in vitro structural stability, ex vivo herniation risk, and in vivo biocompatibility. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2019;96:204-13.
- 55. Suryandaru HV, Aziz AI, Hanifah N, Rasyida A. Alginate/PVA/chitosan injection composites as scaffold material for nucleus pulposus regeneration. IOP Conf Ser Earth Environ Sci 2021;649:012019.



ABSTRACT(IN KOREAN)

퇴행성 추간판 질환 치료를 위한

추간판 수핵 대체용 터프 하이드로젤 개발

<지도교수 문 성 환>

연세대학교 대학원 의학과

이 수 빈

퇴행성 추간판 질환은 추간판의 퇴행성 변화로 인해 요통이 발생하는 질환으로 보존적 치료에 호전이 없을 경우 척추 유합술 등의 수술적 치료가 필요할 수 있다. 퇴행성 추간판 질환의 새로운 치료법으로 조직 공학, 세포 치료, 추간판 이식 등이 시도되었으나 성공적으로 밝혀진 것은 현재까지 없다. 하이드로젤은 생체 적합성이 우수하며 추간판 수핵과 유사한 물성을 보여 추간판 수핵을 대체할 수 있는 소재로 최근 주목받고 있다. 본 연구에서는 물성을 강화한 터프 하이드로젤을 개발하여 추간판 수핵 대체제로서 임상 적용의 가능성을 확인하고자 하였다. 터프 하이드로젤은 실크 섬유를 친수성기를 가진 2-하이드록시에틸메타크릴레이트 (2-HEMA)로 처리한 후 폴리비닐알콜 (PVA) 하이드로젤의 중심부에 배치하여 제작하였다. 시험관내 (in vitro) 실험으로 세포독성시험 및 세포 부착, 세포 증식 시험을 진행하였다. 용출액에서의 세포 생존율을 확인하였고 세포 부착 및 증식 정도를 흡광도를

35



통해 확인하였다. 물성 시험으로는 팽윤 시험, 정적 압축 및 인장 시험, 동적 기계 분석을 시행하였다. 건조 및 침윤 상태의 무게를 비교하여 팽윤도를 측정하였고 전기역학 시험기를 이용하여 탄성계수, tan δ를 측정하였다. 생체내 (in vivo) 시험으로 돼지의 추간판 내 터프 하이드로젤 주입을 시행하였다. 전신 마취 하에 수술적 절개를 통해 돼지 요추 추간판 수핵을 제거하였고 터프 하이드로젤을 삽입하였다. 3주 뒤 돼지를 희생하여 X-ray, micro-CT, 조직학적 분석을 시행하였다. 세포독성시험 결과 터프 하이드로젤 용출액의 세포 생존율은 대조군의 80% 이상으로 세포 독성이 없는 것을 확인하였다. 세포 부착 시험에서는 대조군 보다 205% 높은 흡광도를 보였고, 세포 증식 시험에서는 시간이 경과함에 따라 대조군과의 흡광도 차이가 증가하였다. In vitro 실험을 통해 터프 하이드로젤이 세포 부착 및 증식에 적합하다는 것을 확인하였다. 팽윤 시험에서 터프 하이드로젤은 202%의 팽윤도를 보였고 압축 및 인장 탄성계수는 각각 3.75 kPa, 16.50 MPa이었다. tan δ는 진동수가 증가함에 따라 점차 감소하여 0.09에 수렴하는 것을 확인하였다. 물성 시험을 통해 터프 하이드로젤이 추간판 수핵과 유사한 탄성 및 점탄성을 가진다는 것을 확인하였다. 돼지 추간판 내 터프 하이드로젤 주입 수술 결과 수술과 관련된 합병증은 발생하지 않았다. 조직학적 분석 및 영상 검사 결과 터프 하이드로젤은 추간판 수핵에 위치하고 있었으며 추간판 조직과 이상 반응 없이 생착한 것을 확인하였다. 본 연구를 통해 터프 하이드로젤은 우수한 생체 적합성과 물성을 가지고 있음을 알 수 있었고, 퇴행성 추간판 질환 치료를 위한 수핵 대체제로서의 가능성이 충분함을 확인하였다. 앞으로 터프

36



하이드로젤의 임상 적용을 위해서는 최소침습적이고 효과적인 추간판 내 주입 방법에 대한 추가적인 연구가 필요하다.

핵심되는 말 : 터프 하이드로젤, 퇴행성 추간판 질환, 수핵, PVA, 실크